Biological Removal of Nitrogen from Wastewater

Guibing Zhu, Yongzhen Peng, Baikun Li, Jianhua Guo, Qing Yang, and Shuying Wang

Contents

I.	Introduction	159
II.	Conventional Biological Technologies for Nitrogen Removal	161
	A. Mechanism and Principle	161
	B. Typical Processes for Biological Removal of Nitrogen	161
	C. Disadvantages and Limitations of Conventional Processes	163
III.	Novel Biological Processes for Nitrogen Removal	163
	A. Simultaneous Nitrification and Denitrification	163
	B. Shortcut Nitrification and Denitrification	165
	C. Anaerobic Ammonium Oxidation (ANAMMOX)	170
	D. Aerobic Deammonitrification	176
	E. Completely Autotrophic Nitrogen Removal over Nitrite	
	(CANON)	177
	F. Oxygen-Limited Autotrophic Nitrification-Denitrification	
	(OLAND)	179
	G. Current Status of Nitrifying Bacteria	180
IV.	Critical Comparisons of the Various Technologies	182
	Summary	184
	Acknowledgments	185
	References	185

I. Introduction

The removal of ammonia from wastewater has become a worldwide emerging concern because ammonia is toxic to aquatic species and causes

Communicated by Dr. David M. Whitacre

G. Zhu, Y. Peng (Sol), J. Guo

B. Li

Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Connecticut, 261 Glenbrook Rd., UNIT-2037, Storrs, CT 06269

Y. Peng, Q. Yang, S. Wang

Key Laboratory of Beijing Water Quality Science and Water Environment Recovery Engineering, Beijing University of Technology, Beijing 100022, P.R. China

G. Zhu

SKLEAC, Research Center for Eco-Environmental Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100085, P.R. China

School of Municipal and Environmental Engineering, Harbin Institute of Technology, Harbin 150090, P.R. China

eutrophication in natural water environments (Tchobanoglous et al. 2003). Nitrogen compounds in wastewater can only be effectively removed by biological approaches (EPA 1993; Zhu et al. 2007a,b). Based on the microbial nitrogen cycle and the metabolism of inorganic nitrogen compounds (Fig. 1), many biological technologies and processes have been developed and implemented for nitrogen removal from wastewater, such as predenitrification (Anoxic/Oxic), modified Bardenpho, Bio-denitro, sequencing batch reactor (SBR), oxidation ditch (OD), step feeding, anaerobic/anoxic/aerobic (A²/O), and University of Cape Town (UCT) processes (Wentzel et al. 1992; Østgaard et al. 1997; Williams and Beresford 1998; Tchobanoglous et al. 2003; Pai et al. 2004). These processes have been widely employed in wastewater treatment plants for nitrification and denitrification (EPA 1993). However, with the effluent discharge standards having become more stringent (<10 mg total nitrogen/L), conventional processes cannot meet the new requirements (Khin and Annachhatre 2004).

Several novel nitrogen removal processes have been developed to enhance nitrification and denitrification. This review focuses on these novel processes, including simultaneous nitrification and denitrification (SND), shortcut nitrification and denitrification, anaerobic ammonium oxidation (ANAMMOX), aerobic deammonitrification, completely autotrophic nitrogen removal over nitrite (CANON), oxygen-limited autotrophic nitrification-denitrification (OLAND) processes (Muller et al. 1995; Strous et al. 1999; Fux et al. 2002; Third et al. 2001; Schmidt et al. 2003; Nielsen et al. 2005; Peng and Zhu 2006). Particularly, this review presents a critical comparison of various biological processes, discusses the key control parameters, and summarizes the current research status of functional microorganisms for nitrogen removal. Moreover, several challenging and unsolved problems of these processes are addressed.



Fig. 1. Microbial nitrogen cycle. (From Rick and Stuart 2001.)

II. Conventional Biological Technologies for Nitrogen Removal

A. Mechanism and Principle

Conventional microbial nitrogen removal is based on autotrophic nitrification and heterotrophic denitrification. In the first step of nitrification, ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) oxidize ammonium (NH_4^+) to nitrite (NO_2^-) via hydroxylamine (NH_2OH) (reactions 1 and 2, below). Membrane-bound ammonia monooxygenase (AMO) and hydroxylamine oxidoreductase (HAO) are involved in these two reactions. In the second step, nitrite-oxidizing bacteria (NOB) oxidize nitrite to nitrate (NO_3^-) with the involvement of membrane-bound nitrite oxidoreductase (NOR) (reaction 3).

$$\mathbf{NH}_3 + \mathbf{O}_2 + 2[\mathbf{H}] \xrightarrow{\mathbf{AMO}} \mathbf{NH}_2\mathbf{OH} + \mathbf{H}_2\mathbf{O} \tag{1}$$

$$HN_2OH + 0.5O_2 \xrightarrow{HAO} NHO_2 + 2H^+ + 2e^-$$
(2)

$$NO_2^- + 0.5O_2 \xrightarrow{NOR} NO_3^-$$
 (3)

In anoxic denitrification, NO_3^- and NO_2^- are reduced to gaseous nitrogen with a variety of electron donors, such as methanol, acetate, and organic substances in wastewater (reactions 4 and 5).

$$2NO_{3}^{-} + 10H^{+} + 10e^{-} \rightarrow N_{2} + 2OH^{-} + 4H_{2}O$$
(4)

$$2NO_{2}^{-} + 6H^{+} + 6e^{-} \rightarrow N_{2} + 2OH^{-} + 2H_{2}O$$
(5)

B. Typical Processes for Biological Removal of Nitrogen

Many biological nitrogen removal processes have been developed, including Bardenpho, predenitrification, postdenitrification, SBR, OD, and step feeding (Tchobanoglous et al. 2003; Dapena-Mora et al. 2004; Khin and Annachhatre 2004; Zhu et al. 2005, 2007a,b). The advantages and limitations of these processes are summarized in Table 1.

In most countries, especially in China, about 80% of wastewater treatment plants use the predenitrification [i.e., anoxic/oxic (A/O)] process for biological nitrogen removal (Zhu 2006). Predenitrification has distinct advantages for nitrogen removal. With influent first entering the anoxic denitrification zone, organic carbon sources serve as electron donors for denitrification and are biodegraded by denitrifying bacteria. This method can improve nitrogen removal efficiency and shorten the aerobic duration. However, because of the configuration of A/O processes, the NO_X-N concentration in effluent equals that of internally recycled wastewater, which results in an overall low nitrogen removal efficiency (Baeza et al. 2004; Rosso and Stenstrom 2005). For instance, based on the theory

Table 1. Advantages	and Limitations of Conventional Biological Nitrogen Remova	ll Processes.
Process	Advantages	Limitations
Bardenpho (4-stage)	Total N concentration less than 3 mg/L possible	Large reactor volume is required Second anoxic tank has low efficiency
Predenitrification	Very adaptable to existing activated sludge processes 5-8mg/L total N is achievable Reparation of alkalinity because of denitrification	N-removal capability is a function of internal cycle DO control is required before recycle
Postdenitrification	Capable of achieving total N levels less than 3 mg/L	Higher operating cost due to additional carbon dosage
Bio-denitro	Large reactor volume is resistant to shock load 5-8 mg/L total N is achievable	More complex to operate Two reactors are required so as to increase
Sequencing batch reactor	Process is flexible and easy to design Quiescent settling provides low effluent TSS	Construction cost More complex to operate Effluent quality depends on reliable decanting facility
	Volucent auton Mixed liquid/solids cannot be washed out by hydraulic surves	Be not suitable for large plants
Oxidation ditch	Secondary settling tank is not required Highly reliable process Simple operation Capable of treating shock/toxic loads without affecting	Large structure, greater space requirement Low F/M bulking is possible Some modifications are proprietary and license fees
	entuent quanty Economical process for small plants Well-stabilized sludge; low biosolids production	may be required Plant capacity expansion is more difficult Nitrogen removal capability is related to skills of onerating staff and control methods
Step feeding	Distributes load to provide more uniform oxygen demand To minimize high clarifier solids loading in peak wet weather flows	N-removal capability is a function of flow distribution Flow split is not measured or known accurately
	Adaptable to existing activated sludge processes With internal recycle in last stage, total N less than 5 mg/L possible.	DO control is required before recycle Flow split control is required to optimize operation

162

TSS, total suspended solids; DO, dissolved oxygen.

of predenitrification process (Chiou and Ouyang 2001), a 100% sludge recycle and 200% internal recycle can achieve only 75% nitrogen removal efficiency.

C. Disadvantages and Limitations of Conventional Processes

Because nitrification and denitrification are carried out by different microorganisms under different conditions, they should be designed and operated in separate time sequences or spaces (Lee et al. 2001). Consequently, a long retention time or a large volume is required to accomplish complete nitrogen removal. Moreover, a high level of oxygen, set as 4.2 g O₂/g NH⁺₄-N, is required for nitrification (Bruce and Perry 2001), and a sufficient organic carbon source [2.86 g chemical oxygen demand (COD)/g NO₃⁻-N) is necessary for denitrification (Gradly and Lim 1980). A high level of external carbon sources (methanol, acetate, etc.) is normally added in the denitrification process when treating wastewater with high nitrogen concentration or low C/N ratio (Tam et al. 1992), which increases the operational cost for conventional biological processes. The limitations of low removal efficiency, high oxygen requirement, long retention time, and an external carbon source are the driving forces for developing new low-cost biological treatment processes for complete nitrogen removal (Jetten et al. 2002).

III. Novel Biological Processes for Nitrogen Removal

A. Simultaneous Nitrification and Denitrification (SND)

Mechanism and Advantages

Simultaneous nitrification and denitrification (SND) means that nitrification and denitrification occur concurrently in the same reactor (Keller et al. 1997; Helmer and Kunst 1998). There are two mechanisms for SND: physical and biological (Robertson and Kuenen 1984; Baumann et al. 1996; Hibiya et al. 2003). The conventional physical mechanism is that SND occurs as the consequence of dissolved oxygen (DO) concentration gradients within activated sludge flocs or biofilms due to diffusional limitation (Fig. 2). The nitrifiers exist in aerobic regions with DO higher than 1–2 mg/L, whereas the denitrifiers stay alive in anoxic zones with DO less than 0.5 mg/L. The presence of oxygen concentration gradients in activated sludge flocs and biofilm has been verified by microelectrode measurements (Snidaro et al. 1997; de Beer et al. 1998; Satoh et al. 2003; Li and Bishop 2004; Holman and Wareham 2005) and ¹⁵N tracer techniques (Wyffels et al. 2003).

The biological mechanism for SND is more complicated than the physical ones and is contradictory to the traditional "engineering" conception of autotrophic aerobic nitrification and heterotrophic anoxic denitrification. Several species of heterotrophic nitrifiers and aerobic denitrifiers have been identified in wastewater and night soil treatment systems (Patureau et al.



Fig. 2. Schematic of oxygen concentration profile within a microbial floc. Reprinted form Pochana and keller 1999, with permission from IWA Publishing.

1998; Hu and Kung 2000; Kim et al. 2005). *Alcaligenes* sp., *Corynebacterium* sp., *Acinetobacter* sp., *Xanthomonas* sp., and *Bacillus* strains were identified as heterotrophic nitrifiers (Castignetti and Gunner 1981; Castignetti and Hollocher 1982; Kshirsagar et al. 1995; Hu and Kung 2000; Kim et al. 2005). *Thiosphaera pantotropha* was identified as both heterotrophic nitrifier and aerobic denitrifier (Gupta 1997). *Paracoccus denitrificans*, an aerobic denitrifier isolated from activated sludge (Robertson et al. 1988, 1995; Baumann et al. 1996), reduced nitrate even under oxygen saturation. Other aerobic denitrifier strains, such as *Microvirgula aerodenitrificans* (Patureau et al. 1998) and *Thaurea mechernichensis* (Scholten et al. 1999), have been isolated. From a microbiological point of view, SND has been regarded as the consequence of the oxidization of ammonia by heterotrophic nitrifiers and the reduction of nitrate or nitrite by aerobic denitrifiers (Robertson et al. 1988, 1995; Wyffels et al. 2003).

SND has significant advantages over conventional processes (Pochana et al. 1999; Zhang et al. 2005). With denitrification taking place concurrently with nitrification in aeration tanks the SND process can save the costs for anoxic tanks, and simplify the overall process design. SND is of particular interest when treating wastewaters with a low C:N ratio (<5), because the cost of an extra carbon source will be saved (Guo et al. 2005).

Key Control Factors

On-line monitoring DO and redox potential (ORP) is an efficient approach in the SND process (Zhao et al. 1999; Fuerhacker et al. 2000). SND occurs at a DO of 0.5 mg/L, under which condition the nitrification and denitrification rates are the same (Munch et al. 1996; Peng et al. 2001). However, SBR occurs at a wide ORP range, from -60 to -198 mV (Hanaki et al. 1990; Fuerhacker et al. 2000; Hu et al. 2005).

Other operational parameters, such as sludge retention time (SRT), hydraulic retention time (HRT), and pH, have significant influence on the SND process. Because heterotrophic nitrifiers grow more rapidly and have stronger tolerance to acidity than autotrophic nitrifiers, short SRT and an acidic environment would be favorable for their growth (Focht and Verstraete 1977; Killham 1986; van Niel 1991). A bench-scale SBR system achieved a complete removal of NH_4^+ -N and COD with no NO_2^- -N in the effluent at a C/N ratio of 11.1, SRT of 20d, and HRT of 1d. However, the nitrogen removal efficiency decreased gradually with increasing ammonium-loading rates and F/Ms (Chiu et al. 2007). Until now, the SND processes have been tested with consistent SRT and HRT. There is no research on the influence of SRT and HRT on the efficiency of SND. In addition, pH and free ammonia (FA) should be studied as critical parameters for SND via NO_2^- as they have significant effects on the competition between AOB and NOB.

Research Status and Unsolved Concerns

There are three major factors for the SND processes: carbon source, DO concentration, and floc size (Lee et al. 2001; Holman and Wareham 2005).

Organic carbon is critical for SND, because high biological oxygen demand (BOD) concentration causes the inhibition of autotrophic nitrifiers whereas low BOD leads to the deficiency of electron donors for denitrifiers (Tam et al. 1992). SND occurs well when treating municipal wastewater at a BOD of 100–150 mg/L (Castignetti and Gunner 1981; Kim et al. 2005).

DO concentration is also important for SND (Pochana et al. 1999): it has a twofold effect on SND performance (Pochana and Keller 1999; Hu et al. 2005; Zhang et al. 2005). Low DO concentration suppresses nitrification while high DO concentration inhibits denitrification. Nitrification and denitrification rates became the same at a DO concentration of 0.5 mg/L and achieved a complete SND (Munch et al. 1996). Zhao et al. (1999) found that an extended aeration duration in an intermittent aeration (IA) process favored sequential nitrification and denitrification (SQND). The optimal DO concentration for SND via nitrite was around $2.0 \pm 2.5 \text{ mg/L}$ at the end of the aeration period in the IA process (Yoo et al. 1999).

Some researchers attribute the occurrence of SND to the size of activated sludge floc, which is normally $80-100 \mu m$ (Li and Ganczarczyk 1990, 1993; Pochana and Keller 1999). SND is more likely to occur in the large-size floc (>125 μm) because of the oxygen diffusion limitation, but the occurrence of SND in activated sludge flocs smaller than 20 μm is unclear. If SND is detected in small floc sludge (Wilen and Balmer 1999), the current physical explanation of SND processes will be put in question.

B. Shortcut Nitrification and Denitrification

Mechanism and Advantages

Shortcut nitrification and denitrification, namely partial nitrification-denitrification, is the process in which nitrification and denitrification are correlated by NO_2^- instead of NO_3^- . As an intermediate product, NO_2^- is produced in nitrification and reduced to N_2 in the following NO_2^- denitrification (Fdz-Polanco et al. 1996; van Dongen et al. 2001; Peng et al. 2006). Compared with traditional nitrification and denitrification via NO_3^- , shortcut nitrification and denitrification has the following advantages (Beccari et al. 1983; Turk and Mavinic 1989; Peng and Zhu 2006):

- 1. 25% lower oxygen consumption in the aerobic phase implies 60% energy saving in the entire process.
- 2. The requirement for electron donors is as much as 40% lower in the anoxic phase.
- 3. NO₂⁻ denitrification rate is 1.5 to 2 times higher than NO₃⁻ denitrification rate.

Partial nitrification via NO_2^- is reported to be technically feasible and economically favorable, especially when treating wastewater with high ammonia concentration or low C:N ratio (Turk and Mavinic 1989; Villaverde et al. 1997).

The Single reactor system for High Ammonia Removal Over Nitrite (SHARON) process, the first full-scale process with NO_2^- as the intermediate product, is a cost-effective treatment system for total nitrogen removal from wastewater with high nitrogen concentrations (>550 mg/L). The system has been used for treating wastewater generated from dewatered primary sludge, waste-activated sludge, sludge dryers, and incinerators (van Dongen et al. 2001).

Key Control Factors

The inhibition of nitrite-oxidizing bacteria (NOB) is critical for shortcut nitrification and denitrification because NOB oxidize NO_2^- to NO_3^- and convert partial nitrification to complete nitrification (Picioreanu et al. 1997; Hellinga et al. 1998; Hidaka et al. 2002; Peng and Zhu 2006). Several parameters, including DO concentration, temperature, SRT, substrate concentration, aeration pattern, and chemical inhibitor, have been found to selectively inhibit NOB.

Dissolved Oxygen Concentration. Compared with ammonia oxidizing bacteria (AOB), NOB require a high DO concentration. The DO half-saturation value for oxygen ($K_{s,O}$), representing the affinity for oxygen, is 62 µM for NOB whereas it is 16µM for AOB (Picioreanu et al. 1997; Schramm et al. 1999, 2000). Therefore, AOB dominate NOB at low DO concentration, which results in the accumulation of NO₂ and the occurrence of partial nitrification and denitrification via NO₂.

Although a low DO concentration (<1.5 mg/L) is favorable for partial nitrification, it reduces nitrification rates, lowers COD removal efficiencies, and causes sludge bulking. Different DO concentrations have been reported

for partial nitrification, ranging from 0.3 to 2.5 mg/L (Wyffels et al. 2004a,b). High DO concentrations (>2 mg/L) could convert partial nitrification to complete nitrification, whereas low concentrations (<0.5 mg/L) could reduce nitrification rat. A DO concentration of 1.0–1.5 mg/L has been found suitable for shortcut nitrification and denitrification in real municipal wastewater treatment, which has been verified (Hanaki et al. 1990; Hao et al. 2002a; Peng et al. 2003).

Temperature. Correlation of the maximum growth rate of nitrifying bacteria and temperature is described in the Arrhenius equation at temperatures of 5° -40°C (Anthonisen 1976):

$$\mu_{mt} = \mu_{m20} \, \exp\left[-\frac{E_a \, (20-t)}{293R \, (273+t)}\right] \tag{6}$$

in which μ_{mt} is the maximal specific growth rate (d⁻¹), μ_{m20} is the maximal specific growth rate at 20°C (d⁻¹), E_a is the activation energy (kJ/mol), and R is a constant of 8.314 (J/mol K).

Growth rates of AOB and NOB vary with temperature. AOB have a higher maximal specific growth rate $(0.801 d^{-1})$ than NOB $(0.788 d^{-1})$ at 20°C (Hellinga et al. 1998), while the specific growth rate of AOB $(0.523 d^{-1})$ was lower than that of NOB $(0.642 d^{-1})$ at 15°C. Therefore, NOB dominate AOB at temperatures below 15°C, and AOB outcompete NOB at temperatures above 20°C (Brouwer et al. 1996) (Fig. 3). A higher temperature not only promotes the growth of AOB but can also expand the growth rate differences between AOB and NOB (Balmelle 1992; Hunik 1993; Yoo et al. 1999).



Fig. 3. Effect of temperature on growth rate of ammonia oxidizers and nitrite oxidizers.

The SHARON process has been successfully operated at 35°C, where AOB became dominant (Mulder et al. 2001). As a result of different bacterial growth rates in SHARON, a selection of microbial community should be made wherein NOB are washed out of the system while AOB are still retained along with denitrifying bacteria in the system. This operational mode allows a 25% reduction in oxygen consumption for nitrification and a 40% reduction in the external carbon source addition.

Sludge Age. AOB (e.g., *Nitrosomonas*) need a longer retention time than NOB (e.g., *Nitrobacter*) at temperatures below 15°C, while the trend was reversed at temperatures above 25°C (see Fig. 3). Thus, AOB and NOB can be selectively accumulated by appropriately adjusting SRT in a suspended-growth system (Hellinga et al. 1998).

SRT is equal to HRT in SHARON. Nitrogen was removed via nitrite in a SHARON process with an oxic HRT below 2d. At an oxic HRT of approximately 1.5 days, the COD/N ratio clearly illustrates the metabolic pathways from ammonia to nitrogen via nitrite (Fig. 4).

Aeration Pattern. The aeration pattern has been proposed as an alternative to SRT for partial nitrification control (Hidaka et al. 2002). Aeration duration is inversely related to the extent of partial nitrification, because partial nitrification will be converted to complete nitrification at long



Fig. 4 Continuous operation chemical oxygen demand (COD)/N-removal nitrite pathway in Rotterdam *SHARON* system.

aeration periods (Turk and Mavinic 1989). Turk and Mavinic (1987) observed NO_2^- accumulated during a transition from anoxic to aerobic condition. This accumulation persisted 2–3 hr in the aerobic condition. Intermittent aeration favors partial nitrification (Yoo et al. 1999; Pollice et al. 2002). Peng et al. (2004a) reported that partial nitrification was successfully completed using the aeration control strategy, even though the temperature decreased from 32°C to 21°C.

Substrate Concentration and Load. AOB are divided into two groups according to cell growth rates: slow-growing and fast-growing (Zheng et al. 2004). Slow-growth bacteria, referred to as K strategists, have high affinity to substrate and are dominant at low substrate concentrations, whereas fast-growth bacteria, referred to as R strategists, have low affinity to substrate and thrive at high substrate concentrations. Because ammonia concentrations are normally below 5 mg/L in wastewater treatment processes to meet the discharge requirements, K strategists may be dominant. R strategists were found to become dominant in partial nitrification processes at high ammonia concentrations (>50 mg/L) (Surmacz-Gorska et al. 1997).

Inhibitors. Several inhibitors suppress NOB and lead to partial nitrification. Ag, Hg, Ni, Cr, Zn, Cu, and Pb, listed in increasing order of toxicity, inhibit nitrification (Camilla et al. 1998). Organic compounds such as aniline, ortho-cresol, and phenol exhibit stronger inhibitions on NOB than on AOB. Wastewater with these compounds might inhibit NOB and cause the accumulation of nitrite (Neufeld et al. 1986). Oxidants such as ClO_2^- and chlorate also inhibit NOB (Belser and Mays 1980). Seawater or saline wastewater containing a high level of ClO_2^- can achieve shortcut nitrification (Peng et al. 2004c).

High concentrations of free nitrous acid (HNO₂) and free ammonia (FA) also have adverse impacts on nitrification (Wouter et al. 1999; Villaverde et al. 2000). Anthonisen (1976) and Hellinga et al. (1998) reported HNO₂-N inhibited the nitrite oxidation at concentrations of 0.2-0.22 mg/L. Vadivelu et al. (2006) and Pratt et al. (2003) reported that free nitrous acid started inhibiting the anabolism of *Nitrobacter* at $0.011 \text{ mg HNO}_2^{-}N/L$ (0.8μ M), and completely suppressed the biomass synthesis at $0.023 \text{ mg HNO}_2^{-}N/L$ (1.6μ M).

Many lab-scale systems have achieved stable shortcut nitrification and denitrification through the inhibition of free ammonia (FA, NH₃-N). NOB are inhibited by NH₃-N in the range of 0.1-1.0 mg/L (Anthonisen 1976; Chang et al. 2002), while AOB can tolerate NH₃-N as high as 10–150 mg/L. However, FA only temporarily inhibits the activities of AOB and NOB (Anthonisen 1976; Peng et al. 2004b). The nitrite oxidation by NOB recovered when the FA concentration was lowered to 0.2 mg/L (Han et al. 2003). It should be noted that the FA concentration is affected by wastewater pH

and temperature (Anthonisen 1976), which further affects the stability of shortcut nitrification (Fdz-Polanco et al. 1994; Cecen 1996; Cecen et al. 1996; Surmacz-Gorska et al. 1997).

Research Status and Unsolved Matters

A stable partial nitrification can be achieved by regulating one of the factors described above. DO concentration is an economically feasible control parameter. Low DO concentration will save aeration cost but may reduce COD biodegradation rate and cause sludge bulking. Furthermore, idiographic and practical conditions should be considered. For example, because of the high specific heat of water, it is impractical to raise wastewater temperature to facilitate AOB. It is necessary to consider the economic feasibility when using DO, temperature, pH, and inhibitor as control parameters.

SHARON is the first full-scale process in which nitrification/denitrification can be achieved with nitrite as the intermediate product (Hellinga et al. 1998). It has been used for treating sludge digestion liquid in Rotterdam, Dokhaven, Utrecht, Zwolle, and Beverwijk (all in The Netherlands). However, SHARON needs to be operated at high temperatures (>35°C) and high ammonium concentrations, which limit its application (STOWA 1995). In contrast, SBR systems with long sludge ages (>30d) have successfully achieved partial nitrification at low temperatures (<13°C) when treating municipal wastewater (Peng and Zhu 2006).

Until now the most successful operation of partial nitrification via nitrite has been achieved in sequencing batch processes (Cecen 1996; Verstraete and Philips 1998; Hidaka et al. 2002). The only study for partial nitrification in a continuous-flow process was conducted by Schmidt et al. (2003) with influent NH⁴₄-N higher than 50 mg/L. The current challenge is how to implement stable partial nitrification in continuous-flow processes treating wastewater with low ammonia concentration (<60 mg/L).

C. Anaerobic Ammonium Oxidation (ANAMMOX)

Mechanism and Advantages

The Anaerobic Ammonia Oxidation (ANAMMOX) process, developed at Delft University of Technology in the 1990s, is a novel and low-cost approach to removing nitrogen from wastewater (van Graaf et al. 1995; Strous et al. 1999; Fux et al. 2002). In ANAMMOX, ammonia is oxidized to nitrogen by anaerobic AOB with nitrite as the electron acceptor. Hydrazine and hydroxylamine are the intermediate products (Schalk et al. 1998; Jetten et al. 1999). External carbon sources are not needed in ANAMMOX because carbon dioxide serves as the main carbon source for anaerobic AOB (van Graaf et al. 1996). Equation 7 is the ANAMMOX reaction (Jetten et al. 1999):



Fig. 5. Mechanism of anaerobic ammonium oxidation. NR is a nitrite-reducing enzyme (NH₂OH is the assumed product); HH (hydrazine hydrolase) condenses hydrazine from ammonia and hydroxylamine; HZO is a hydrazine-oxidizing enzyme (which may be equivalent to hydroxylamine oxidoreductase). (From Jetten et al. 2001.)

$$NH_{4}^{+} + 1.31NO_{2}^{-} + 0.066HCO_{3}^{-} + 0.13H^{+} \rightarrow 1.02N_{2} + 0.26NO_{3}^{-} + 0.066CH_{2}O_{0.5}N_{0.15} + 2.03H_{2}O$$
(7)

The possible mechanism for anaerobic ammonium oxidation is shown in Fig. 5. Nitrite-reducing enzyme (NR) is on the cytoplasm side of the cell membrane. It catalyzes the reduction of NO_2^- to hydroxylamine. Hydrazine hydrolase (HH) across the cell membrane condenses hydroxylamine and ammonia to hydrazine. Hydrazine-oxidizing enzyme (HZO) is on the anammoxosome side of the cell membrane and catalyzes hydrazine to nitrogen. The electrons generated from these reactions are transferred back to NR.

Two ANAMMOX bacteria, tentatively named *Brocadia anammoxidans* (Strous et al. 1997a) and *Kuenenia stuttgartiensis* (Schmid et al. 2000; Cirpus et al. 2005), were found to carry out anaerobic ammonium oxidation. *Brocadia anammoxidans* was detected in the Netherlands, whereas *Kuenenia stuttgartiensis* was detected in Germany and Switzerland. These two bacteria have similar structures and produce hydrazine from exogenously supplied hydroxylamine. Two new species of ANAMMOX bacteria, *Candidatus Scalindua brodae* and *Candidatus Scalindua wagneri*, have been recently discovered (Schmid et al. 2003).

Compared with conventional nitrification-denitrification processes, ANAMMOX has two major advantages. First, because ANAMMOX is carried out by autotrophic bacteria, there is no need for organic carbon sources, which saves chemical dosage costs. Second, the biomass yield of ANAMMOX is very low (0.11 g VSS/g NH⁺₄-N, VSS—volatile suspended solids), which saves sludge treatment costs (Jetten et al. 1999; Fux et al. 2002; Cirpus et al. 2005).

Key control factors

Reactor configuration. As a result of the slow growth rate of ANAMMOX bacteria, these reactors should have long SRT to maintain high biomass concentrations, especially at the startup stage. Studies have revealed that biofilm systems (fixed-bed reactor, fluidized-bed reactor, gas-lift reactor, etc.) (Sliekers et al. 2003; Dapena-Mora et al. 2004) and SBR (Strous et al. 1997c, 1998, 1999; van Dongen et al. 2001) are feasible for ANAMMOX.

DO concentration. Strous et al. (1997a) demonstrated that the activity of ANAMMOX bacteria was temporarily inhibited at the DO concentration of 0.2 mg/L and later recovered under anoxic conditions. The activity of ANAMMOX bacteria was completely inhibited at DO concentration of 0.2–1.0 mg/L.

Substrate concentration. Ammonia (the substrate for ANAMMOX) and nitrate (the by-product) produce little inhibition on ANAMMOX bacteria when their concentrations are below 1000 mg/L (Jetten et al. 1999). However, nitrite (another substrate) exhibits an adverse impact on ANAMMOX bacteria at a concentration of 100 mg/L (Strous et al. 1999). It is critical to maintain nitrite concentration below 70 mg/L in this process (Schmidt et al. 2002a).

pH. pH affects this process in terms of substrate constituents. The percentage of ammonia and nitrite in wastewater is significantly influenced by pH (Anthonisen 1976; Abeling and Seyfried 1992) and can be expressed in the following equations (Eqs. 8 and 9):

$$NH_3 / \% = \frac{100}{1 + \frac{10^{-pH}}{[K_a]}}$$
(8)

$$NHO_2 / \% = \frac{100}{1 + \frac{[K_a]}{10^{-pH}}}$$
(9)

in which $[K_a]$ is the ionization constant. Appropriate pH range for ANAMMOX bacteria is 7.7–8.3 with the maximum reaction rates occurring at pH of 8.0 (Strous et al. 1997a). Reaction rates increased at pH of 6.0–7.5 but decreased at pH 8.0–9.5.

Temperature. Temperature is an important factor for cell growth and metabolic activity. Normally, cells grow faster at higher temperature. Because the growth rate of ANAMMOX bacteria is very slow, there has been no accurate correlation between their growth rates and temperatures. The activation energy of ANAMMOX bacteria is similar to that of aerobic AOB (about 70 kJ/mol) (Strous et al. 1997b). ANAMMOX can take place at temperatures ranging from 6°C to 43 °C, whereas the optimal temperature for its bacteria is $26^{\circ}-28^{\circ}$ C (Fig. 6) (Thamdrup and Dalsgaard 2002). The reaction rate drops rapidly at temperatures lower than 15° C or higher than 40° C.

*NO and NO*₂. Both NO and NO₂ are the intermediate products of NOB. They affect not only ANAMMOX bacterial activities but also their growth rates. Schmidt et al. (2002b) found that consumption rates of NH₃ and NO₂⁻ and production rates of NO₃⁻ increased with addition of NO₂⁻, and were highest at [NO₂⁻] of 50 mg/L, but dropped at [NO₂⁻] higher than 600 mg/L. The specific growth rate of *Brocadia anammoxidans* increased from 0.003 h⁻¹ without the addition of NO₂⁻ to 0.004 h⁻¹ at the [NO₂⁻] of 50 mg/L, but dropped to 0.0028 h⁻¹ at [NO₂⁻] of 200 mg/L.



Fig. 6. Effect of temperature on growth rate of ANAMMOX bacteria.

Sludge age. Because of the slow growth rate and low biomass yield of ANAMMOX bacteria, a long sludge age is critical for this process. Although the theoretical doubling time of the bacteria is 11 d, longer SRT enhances ANAMMOX performance (Strous et al. 1999; Schmidt et al. 2002a).

Combined Partial Nitrification and ANAMMOX Process

The critical point for a successful process is to maintain a sufficient population of anaerobic AOB (Jetten et al. 1999). Because high $[NO_2^-]$ inhibits anaerobic AOB, reducing NO_2^- accumulation will be a solution for this process. Partial nitrification can effectively convert NO_2^- to N_2 without significant accumulation; thereby, coupling with partial nitrification is expected to solve the NO_2^- problem in ANAMMOX (Fig. 7) (Fux et al. 2002). In this combined process, part of NH_4^+ is oxidized to NO_2^- by aerobic AOB, and NO_2^- is then reduced to N_2 by denitrifiers. The other part of NH_4^+ is oxidized to N_2 with NO_2^- as an electron acceptor by anaerobic AOB. The oxygen requirement of this combined process is 40% less than traditional nitrogen removal systems. The organic dosage for denitrification is also saved. In addition, sludge production is low because of the slow growth rate of anaerobic AOB, which reduces sludge treatment costs (Jetten et al. 1997). However, there are several problems for this combined system:

- 1. The residual DO in the effluent of partial nitrification might inhibit ANAMMOX bacterial activity because anaerobic AOB are sensitive to oxygen.
- 2. The optimal ratio of ammonia to nitrite should be 1.0:1.3 for the ANAMMOX process (see Eq. 5). This ratio might be difficult to maintain as a result of the involvement of complex biochemical reactions and diverse microorganisms in the process.
- 3. Because anaerobic AOB (cell yield, 0.11 gVSS/g NH₄⁺-N) grow slower than aerobic AOB (cell yield, 0.13 gVSS/g NH₄⁺-N), they will be outcompeted by the aerobic AOB present in the effluent of partial nitrification.



Fig. 7. The combined partial nitrification-ANAMMOX process.



Fig. 8. Schematic graph of the combined partial nitrification-ANAMMOX process.

A step-feeding mode for partial nitrification and ANAMMOX can reduce the competition between anaerobic AOB and aerobic AOB (Fig. 8). Applying this operation mode can result in the following advantages:

- 1. Eliminating the competition of aerobic AOB and anaerobic AOB for ammonia, especially when ammonia concentration is low in raw wastewater.
- 2. Providing an optimal substrate ammonia and nitrite ratio (1.0:1.3) and thus enhancing total-N removal efficiency.
- 3. Ensuring an obligate anaerobic environment for ANAMMOX, because residual DO in the effluence of partial nitrification is depleted by COD in the influent.
- 4. Part of the nitrate produced in ANAMMOX can be removed by denitrification with the remaining COD as electron donors, which will improve total-N removal efficiency.
- 5. Because of the low growth rate of the bacteria, aerobic AOB in partial nitrification effluent might have a dilution or competition effect on ANAMMOX bacteria. The step-feeding strategy can reduce this dilution effect.

Research Status and Unsolved Matters

ANAMMOX has been operated in full-scale plants for treating sludge digestion supernatant in the Netherlands (Fux et al. 2002). Anammox effectively solves the nitrite inhibition problem in SHARON. The current challenge is how to efficiently accumulate anaerobic AOB. Strous et al. (1998) estimated that the cell yield value for anaerobic AOB was 0.066 mol cell/mol $(NH_4^+)_{reduced}$, ammonium consumption rate was 45 nmolNH⁺/₄/mgcell/min, and the maximum specific growth rate was $0.0027 hr^{-1}$, which meant their doubling time was at least 11 d. Because the growth rate of these bacteria is slow, a long cell retention time is critical (Schmidt et al. 2003). When the level of cell loss is higher than cell growth, this process will become unstable

(Dapena-Mora et al. 2004). Moreover, due to the slow growth rate of ANAMMOX bacteria, it is difficult to analyze cell concentration. Until now there is no report on the quantitative relation between bacterial populations and nitrogen removal efficiency.

D. Aerobic Deammonitrification

Mechanism and Advantages

In aerobic deammonitrification, NH_4^+ is oxidized to N_2 in a single step (Poth and Focht 1985; Bock et al. 1995; Hippen et al. 1997; Siegrist et al. 1998b). Two models have been proposed for aerobic deammonitrification: the simultaneous nitrification and denitrification model (Fig. 9) and the separated nitrification and denitrification model (Fig. 10).

In the first model, aerobic deammonification is achieved by aerobic nitrifiers and anaerobic ANAMMOX AOB (Fig. 9). Alternate aerobic/anoxic biofilm reactors have been found to develop aerobic deammonification. Siegrist et al (1998a) observed that *Nitrosomomas* (aerobic AOB) on the surface layer of biofilm converted ammonia NH_4^+ to NO_2^- using oxygen from bulk wastewater in biological rotation contactors, and NH_4^+ and NO_2^- then transfused to the inner anoxic layer of biofilm and were removed by anaerobic AOB. This model has been verified stoichiometrically (Helmer-Madhok et al. 2002). *Paracoccus pantotropha* were found to carry out both anoxic and aerobic denitrification (Arts et al. 1995).

In the second model, aerobic deammonification is achieved by nitrifiers (mainly AOB, such as *Nitrosomomas*) (see Fig. 10). The AOB on the biofilm surface oxidize NH_4^+ to NO_2^- in the presence of oxygen. NO_2^- then transfuses



Fig. 9. The simultaneous nitrification and denitrification mode for aerobic deammonification. Reprinted from Stuven and Block 2001, with permission from Elsevier.



Fig. 10. Possible degradation of ammonia to dinitrogen and nitrite. Reprinted from Pochana and Keller 1999, with permission from IWA Publishing.

to the inner layer of the biofilm and is reduced to N_2 with NADH₂ as electron donor (Abeliovich 1987, 1992). In this model, hydroxylamine is the intermediate product of ammonium oxidation, and NADH₂ is the product of hydroxylamine oxidization. However, only 67% of NO₂ can be converted to N₂ by AOB, based on this model (Siegrist et al. 1998b).

Research Status and Unsolved Matters

It has been found in pilot-scale and full-scale studies that NH_4^+ is oxidized to N_2 when treating municipal wastewater and landfill leachate (Siegrist et al. 1998a,b). Because aerobic deammonification normally occurs in the systems designed for conventional nitrification, the process design has not yet been optimized and nitrogen loading rates are low (90–250 g N/m³ reactor d⁻¹) (Verstraete and Philips 1998). More studies need to be conducted to understand the mechanisms, characterize the microbial communities, and enhance process control.

E. Completely Autotrophic Nitrogen Removal over Nitrite (CANON)

Mechanism and Advantages

Because a significant amount of nitrogen is lost as nitrogen gas during the treatment of wastewater with high ammonia loadings but low organic loadings (Helmer and Kunst 1998; Koch et al. 2000; Helmer et al. 2001), a new process named Completely Autotrophic Nitrogen removal Over Nitrite (the CANON process) has been developed (Dijkman and Strous 1999). This process includes partial nitrification and anoxic oxidation of ammonia carried out by aerobic AOB and anaerobic AOB (Pynaert et al. 2002a,b; Third et al. 2001; Hao et al. 2002b; Nielsen et al. 2005). The interaction between these two types of nitrifiers under oxygen-limited conditions results in a complete conversion of ammonium to nitrogen gas in a single autotrophic reactor.

Under oxygen-limited condition, NH_4^+ is oxidized to NO_2^- by aerobic nitrifiers (Eq. 10) (Hanaki et al. 1990):

$$NH_4^+ + 1.5O_2 \rightarrow NO_2^- + 2H^+ + H_2O$$
 (10)

Anaerobic AOB subsequently convert NH_4^+ and NO_2^- to nitrogen gas and NO_3^- :

$$NH_4^+ + 1.3NO_2 \rightarrow 1.02N_2^- + 0.26NO_3^+ + 2H_2O$$
 (11)

With NO₂ serving as the electron donor for the formation of biomass from carbon dioxide, the oxidation of NO₂ to NO₃ is stoichiometrically coupled with cell growth. The combination of reactions 9 and 10 results in the following overall nitrogen removal reaction (Eq. 12) (Strous 2000):

$$NH_4^+ + 0.85O_2 \rightarrow 0.435N_2 + 0.13NO_3^- + 1.3H_2O + 1.4H^+$$
 (12)

Both CANON and ANAMMOX removed nitrogen through the reaction of NH_4^+ and NO_2^- . However, NO_2^- is the electron donor in CANON and is produced in shortcut nitrification by AOB, whereas NO_2^- is the electron acceptor in ANAMMOX and needs to be added from other sources. CANON is operated at low oxygen condition (DO < 0.5 mg/L) whereas ANAMMOX is operated at obligate anaerobic condition.

CANON is cost-effective for wastewater with high ammonia concentrations (Pynaert et al. 2004). No extra carbon source is required, because it is completely autotrophic. In addition, nitrogen removal can be achieved in a single reactor with low aeration intensity. CANON consumes 63% less oxygen than conventional nitrogen removal processes (Sliekers et al. 2002).

Key Control Factors

There are three key factors for CANON: dissolved oxygen concentration, ammonia concentration, and an AOB population. Oxygen has two inhibition impacts on this process. It is toxic to anaerobic AOB and suppresses anaerobic AOB with the excessive production of nitrite. A DO concentration of 0.5 ± 0.07 mg/L is recommended (Sliekers et al. 2003).

Ammonia concentration is critical for this process. Ammonia oxidation is limited only by oxygen concentration when ammonia is sufficient in CANON, while nitrite oxidation is limited by both oxygen and nitrite concentrations. If either dissolved oxygen or nitrite is maintained at a low level, NOB can be inhibited in the system and ensure a stable CANON performance (Pynaert et al. 2002b; Nielsen et al. 2005). It has been found that a deficiency of ammonia substantially lowered this process efficiency, with 31% of NO_2^- generated by AOB reacting in anaerobic ammonification and 69% of nitrite reacting in nitrification. When ammonia became sufficient, 100% of NO_2^- generated by AOB reacted in anaerobic ammonification (Third et al. 2001). The experimental results showed that an ammonia loading of 14 mg/Lhr provided a sufficient ammonia source in CANON (Third et al. 2001).

The interaction between aerobic AOB and anaerobic AOB affects this process (Third et al. 2001, 2005). These two types of bacteria live on different substrates, with aerobic AOB requiring ammonia and oxygen and anaerobic AOB requiring ammonia and nitrite. Therefore, CANON will be disrupted by the presence of NOB because NOB use oxygen and nitrite as substrates and compete with aerobic AOB for oxygen and with anaerobic AOB for nitrite.

Research Status and Unsolved Matters

The CANON process has been tested in full-scale nitrification systems (Helmer et al. 2001; Boran et al. 2004). N-removal rates reached 1.5 kg N m⁻³ d⁻¹ in this process (Sliekers et al. 2003), 20 times higher than other biological nitrogen removal processes (Kuai and Verstraete 1998; Sliekers et al. 2002). More studies are needed to clarify microbial communities in CANON, broaden its application, and enhance its resistance to shocks.

F. Oxygen-Limited Autotrophic Nitrification-Denitrification (OLAND)

Mechanism and Advantages

Nitrogen removal can also be accomplished in another single-step process, named the Oxygen-Limited Autotrophic Nitrification-Denitrification (OLAND) process (Kuai et al. 1998), in which AOB oxidize a portion of NH_4^+ to NO_2^- with oxygen as the electron acceptor and then reduce NO_2^- to N_2 with the other portion of NH_4^+ as the electron donor. OLAND is supposed to take place via two steps (reactions 13 and 14) (Poth 1986; Muller et al. 1995):

$$NH_4^+ + 1.5O_2 \rightarrow NO_2^- + H_2O + 2H^+$$
 (13)

$$NH_4^+ + NO_2^- \rightarrow N_2 + 2H_2O \tag{14}$$

Combining these two steps, we can get an overall reaction:

$$2NH_4^+ + 1.5O_2 \rightarrow N_2 + 3H_2O + 2H^+$$
(15)

There is no clear distinction between OLAND and CANON. OLAND is achieved by aerobic AOB (*N. eutropha*) under oxygen-limited condition (Pynaert et al. 2004), while CANON is carried out by both aerobic AOB and anaerobic AOB under oxygen-limited condition. OLAND also exhibits a good tolerance of NH_4^+ and NO_2^- shocks (Windey et al. 2005). Compared with conventional nitrogen removal processes, OLAND consumes 63% less oxygen and does not require alkalinity dosage (Bock et al. 1995; Hippen et al. 1997; Pynaert et al. 2004).

Key Control Factors

Oxygen concentration is critical for OLAND because the population of aerobic AOB drastically decreases at low oxygen concentration $(DO < 0.1 \text{ mgL}^{-1})$ (Kuai and Verstraete 1998; Philips et al. 2002; Zhang et al. 2004). Compared with CANON, OLAND has a shorter sludge retention time and a lower requirement for nitrite sources (Wyffels et al. 2004a; Windey et al. 2005).

Research Status and Unsolved Matters

Although OLAND is easier to operate than CANON, the application of this one-step process is severely limited by the low nitrogen removal efficiency (lower than 40%) and the uncertainty of the operational conditions (Schmidt and Bock 1997). To enhance OLAND performance, the oxidation rate of NH_4^+ to NO_2^- and the growth rate of aerobic AOB under oxygen-limited condition should be improved. In addition, the impacts of temperature and pH need to be studied, which is important for the growth of AOB and nitrogen removal efficiency.

G. Current Status of Nitrifying Bacteria

Understanding the population and function of nitrifying bacteria is critical to the design and operation of nitrogen removal processes. Because microorganisms are critical in nitrogen removal processes, many studies have investigated nitrifying bacterial species and activity. Based on gene sequence analysis, there are five genera of AOB: Nitrosococcus, Nitrososmonas, Nitrosospira, Nitrosovibrio, and Nitrosolobus; and four of NOB: Nitrobacter, Nitrospira, Nitrococcus, and Nitrospira. By using classical microbial screening techniques, and Painter (1986) found that Nitrosomonas europa and Nitrobacter winogradskyi were the main genera of AOB and NOB. In contrast, the studies using molecular biology-based techniques including 16S ribosomal RNA (rRNA)-targeted methods have shown a great diversity of nitrifiers in activated sludge. Nitrosospira and Nitrospira were found as the main genera of AOB and NOB in both bench-scale systems (Burrell et al. 1998; Schramm et al. 1998, 1999; Rittmann et al. 1999; Morgenroth et al. 2000; You et al. 2003; Gieseke et al. 2002) and wastewater treatment plants (Juretschko et al. 1998; Coskuner and Curtis 2002), whereas Nitrosomonas and Nitrobacter were still characterized as dominant nitrifying bacteria in some other studies using bench-scale systems (Gieseke et al. 2001; Chen et al. 2003: Tsuneda et al. 2003) and wastewater treatment plants (Wagner et al. 1996; Daims et al. 2001; Dionisi et al. 2002; Coskuner and

Curtis 2002; Hallin et al. 2005). In addition, although nitrifying bacterial populations (AOB + NOB) are generally supposed to be greater than 5%–8% in biomass for good nitrification (Randall et al. 1992; Koch et al. 2001), a wide variation in the percentage of nitrifying bacteria in the microbial community has been reported. It varied from 0.34% in activated sludge (Dionisi et al. 2002), through 6%–18% in a combined activated sludge and rotating biological contactor process (You et al. 2003) and a sewage plant (Wagner et al. 1995), and to more than 50% in a carbon-limited autotrophic nitrifying biofilm (Kindaichi et al. 2004) and an SBR system (Morgenroth et al. 2000). These studies reflect the differences between AOB and NOB populations in treatment facilities and raise two questions: (1) Does the dominance of specific nitrifying bacterial species vary with operational conditions and influent qualities? and (2) What is the correlation between microbial population and operational conditions in the treatment systems?

There are discrepancies in the dominance of AOB and NOB. It was generally accepted that AOB dominated over NOB with a ratio of 2.0-3.5 under conditions of good nitrification (Copp and Murphy 1995; You et al. 2003), possibly because of the inherent high growth rates of AOB (Schramm et al. 1999) and the higher energy generation of NH₄⁺ oxidization by AOB than NO₂ oxidization by NOB (You et al. 2003). Cell size could also contribute to the dominance of AOB, since AOB cells were larger than NOB (Altmann et al. 2003) and existed in larger colonies (Schramm et al. 1996; Juretschko et al. 1998). Another explanation was that AOB could maintain ribosome content under adverse conditions because inactive AOB could still be detected in high abundance by fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) targeting ribosomal RNA (rRNA) (Wagner et al. 1995; Okabe et al. 2004). However, several other studies revealed that the population of AOB was lower than that of NOB. Schramm et al. (1999) found that NOB (Nitrospira) was more than 30 times that of AOB (Nitrosospira) in a wastewater treatment plant, and Gieseke et al. (2001) found that NOB population (Nitrospira) was 85 times more than AOB (Nitrosomonas) in a bench-scale biofilm system. By using real-time quantitative PCR and assuming two copies of amoA gene per AOB cell and one copy of 16S rDNA gene per NOB cell, Dionisi et al. (2002) estimated the NOB population (Nitrospira) as 190 times greater than AOB (Nitrosomonas) in a wastewater treatment plant. This discrepancy between bacterial populations and their functions could be the result of different treatment processes and different types of genetic material targeted in these studies, and poses a requirement for information on gene expression or examination of the genetic material (e.g., mRNA) (Logan and Rittmann 1998).

To explain nitrifying bacterial communities in treatment systems, several studies assumed that *Nitrosomonas* and *Nitrobecter* were *r*-strategists (low affinity for substrates and high growth rates) and dominated at high substrate concentrations, whereas *Nitrosospira* and *Nitrospira* were

k-strategists (high affinity for substrates and low growth rate) and thrived at low substrate concentrations (Manz et al. 1996; Schramm et al. 1998, 2000; Noguera et al. 2002). In addition, *Nitrobecter* was found to have the unique ability to live heterotrophically, whereas most of *Nitrospina*, *Nitrococcus*, and *Nitrospira* were unable to grow heterotrophically (Ehrich et al. 1995; Burrell et al. 1998).

Unsolved Matters

The importance of elucidating nitrifying bacterial populations and function in wastewater treatment processes has been well recognized. The combination of microelectrode and molecular biology has revealed the variation of different nitrifying bacterial species in the microenvironment of biofilm and activated sludge. However, there is one major unsolved problem: the application of microbial community in engineering design and operation. Although diverse nitrifying bacterial groups have been identified, the current activated sludge/biofilm models still assume nitrifying bacteria as a single group with the same cell growth rate and use empirical kinetic parameters, which leads to malfunction of the nitrogen removal process and the uncertainty of seeking the real causes. To enhance the performance of nitrogen removal processes, it is critical to incorporate the microbial community findings into the design and operation of treatment processes.

IV. Critical Comparisons of the Various Technologies

The novel and conventional nitrogen removal processes are compared in terms of reactor complexity, treatment performance, and operational costs (Table 2) (Jetten et al. 2002; Schmidt et al. 2003). From the aspect of reactor numbers, conventional technologies require two reactors while the novel technologies require only one, thus saving construction costs. As for oxygen requirement, conventional technologies normally require high dissolved oxygen concentrations to carry out complete nitrification, while the novel technologies need only low or limited oxygen supply, thus saving aeration costs. In terms of the addition of carbon sources, the conventional technologies require high influent C:N ratios for denitrification, while novel technologies have a low carbon requirement and exhibit good adaptation to both high and low C:N ratios.

With the low cell growth rates of anaerobic nitrifiers, novel technologies produce less sludge than conventional technologies and thus reduce sludge treatment costs. All novel technologies except ANAMMOX can efficiently remove nitrogen from municipal wastewater. These advantages make the novel technologies promising. However, several features of these technologies need to be improved, such as operational stability, nitrogen removal efficiency, and growth of specific nitrifiers.

Shortcut nitrification-denitrification (partial nitrification) and ANAMMOX are the most developed among these novel technologies.

Table 2. Compari	son of Various	Biological Nitro	gen Removal T	echnologies and F	rocesses.		
Technology or process	Conventional	SND	Short-cut (SHARON)	ANAMMOX	Aerobic deammonitrification	CANON	OLAND
Number of reactors Feed	2 Wastewater	1 Wastewater	2 Wastewater	1 Ammonia + Nitrite	1 Wastewater	1 Wastewater	1 Wastewater
Discharge Operating conditions	NO ⁵ , NO ⁵ , N ² Aerobic, anoxic	N_2 Aerobic	$NO_{\overline{2}}$, N ₂ Aerobic, anoxic	NO_3^{-} , N_2 Anaerobic	N2 Aerobic	NO3 ⁻ , N2 Oxygen limited	N ₂ Oxygen limited
Oxygen requirements Biomass retention	High None	Low None	Low None	None Yes	Low Yes	Low Yes	Low Yes
COD requirements	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No
Sludge production	High	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
Bacteria	Nitrifiers +	Heterotrophic	Aerobic	Planctomycetes	Aerobic nitrifiers +	Aerobic ammonium	Aerobic ammonium
	heterotrophs	Nitrifiers + aerobic denitrifier	Ammonium Oxidizer		aerobic Denitrifier	Oxidizer + planctomycetes	Oxidizer + anaerobic Ammonium oxidizer
Max N loading (kg N m ⁻³ reactor d ⁻¹)	2-8	1-3.5	0.5-1.5	10–20	1–2	2–3	0.1
Total-N removal efficiency	95%	100%	%06	87%	60%	75%	85%
Optimum temperature (°C)	12–35	20–30	Above 25	30-40	Unknown	30–40	30-40
Common reactor configuration	Activated sludge and biofilm	Oxidation ditch, SBR	Activated sludge and biofilm	Fixed and fluidized-bed reactor, gas-lift reactor, SBR	Biological rotating contactor, gas-lift reactor, fixed and fluidized-bed reactor	Fixed and fluidized-bed reactor, SBR	Fixed and fluidized-bed reactor, SBR
Application status Electron donor Biofilms or	Established COD Biofilms/	Laboratory Unknown Biofilms/	Full-scale plants COD Suspension	Full-scale initiated Ammonium Biofilms/	Laboratory Ammonium Biofilms/suspension	Laboratory Nitrite Biofilms/suspension	Laboratory Ammonia Biofilms/suspension
suspension	suspension	suspension		suspension			
SND, simultaneou	is nitrification and	l denitrification; COI	D, Chemical oxyge	n demand; SBR, sequ	iencing batch reactor.		

Nitrogen Removal from Wastewater

Shortcut nitrification-denitrification achieves nitrogen removal in a single tank at a low DO concentration. ANAMMOX has high efficiency when operated at higher total-N loadings and can be combined with partial nitrification through anaerobic AOB. The SHARON and CANON processes are derived from these two technologies. Aerobic dammonitrification is a combined process of partial nitrification and ANAMMOX reactions occurring at different layers of biofilm.

Summary

This comprehensive review discusses diverse conventional and novel technologies for nitrogen removal from wastewater. Novel technologies have distinct advantages in terms of saving configuration, aeration, and carbon sources. Each novel technology possesses promising features and potential problems. For instance, SND and OLAND processes can achieve 100% total nitrogen removal, but the low oxygen concentration required by these two processes substantially reduces the nitrification rate, which limits their application. On the other hand, denitrification can still be carried out by aerobic denitrifiers at high DO levels in activated sludge process, but it is difficult to cultivate this type of bacteria.

The SHARON process is most commonly used for shortcut nitrification and denitrification because of its low requirements for retention time, oxygen concentration, and carbon source. However, its high operational temperature (about 35°C) limits the application. Several real-time control strategies (DO, pH, and ORP) have been developed to achieve a stable nitrite accumulation in SHARON.

The ANAMMOX process can sustain at high total-N loadings and has been employed in full-scale treatment plants, but the problem of nitrite supply has not been solved, and the treated wastewater still contains nitrate. In addition, the inoculation and enrichment of ANAMMOX bacteria (i.e., anaerobic AOB) is difficult. The problem of nitrite supply has been solved by combining partial nitrification with ANAMMOX, which provides abundant nitrite for anaerobic AOB. ANAMMOX is currently used for treating sludge digestion supernatant.

Aerobic dammonitrification is a process combining partial nitrification and ANAMMOX at different layers of biofilm. Although the technology has been tested in pilot- and full-scale experiments, the mechanism is still unclear.

CANON and OLAND are one-step ammonium removal processes that possess distinct advantages of saving carbon sources and aeration costs. The major challenge is the enrichment of anaerobic microorganisms capable of oxidizing ammonia with nitrite as the electron acceptor.

Molecular biology and environmental biotechnology can help identify functional microorganisms, characterize microbial communities, and develop new nitrogen removal processes. Extensive research should be conducted to apply and optimize these novel processes in wastewater treatment plants. More effort should be invested to combine these novel processes (e.g., partial nitrification, ANAMMOX) to enhance nitrogen removal efficiency.

Acknowledgments

This research is financially supported by National Natural Science Foundation Key International Cooperation project of China (No. 50521140075) and National Hi-Tech Development Program "863" project (No. 2004AA601020) and attached projects of "863" project of Beijing Municipal Science and Technology (Z0005186040421).

References

- Abeling U, Seyfried CF (1992) Anaerobic-aerobic treatment of high strength ammonium wastewater nitrogen removal via nitrite. Water Sci Technol 26:1007–1015.
- Abeliovich A (1987) Nitrifying bacteria in wastewater reservoirs. Appl Environ Microbiol 53:754–760.
- Abeliovich A (1992) Transformations of ammonia and the environmental impact of nitrifying bacteria. Biodegradation 3:255–264.
- Altmann D, Stief P, Amann R, de Beer D, Schramm A (2003) In situ distribution and activity of nitrifying bacteria in freshwater sediment. Environ Microbiol 5(9):798–803.
- Anthonisen AC (1976) Inhibition of nitrification by ammonia and nitrous acid. J Water Pollut Control Fed 48(5):835–852.
- Arts PAM, Robertson LA, Kuenen JG (1995) Nitrification and denitrification by *Thiosphaera pantotropha* in aerobic chemostat cultures. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 18(4):305–315.
- Baeza JA, Gabriel D, Lafuente J (2004) Effect of internal recycle on the nitrogen removal efficiency of an anaerobic/anoxic/oxic (A²/O) wastewater treatment plant (WWTP). Process Biochem 39:1615–1624.
- Balmelle B (1992) Study of factors controlling nitrite build-up in biological processes for water nitrification. Water Sci Technol 26:1018–1025.
- Baumann B, Snozzi M, Zehnder AJB, van der Meer JR (1996) Dynamics of denitrification activity of *Paracoccus denitrificans* in continuous culture during aerobic-anaerobic changes. J Bacteriol 178:4367–4374.
- Beccari M, Marani E, Ramadori R, Tandoi V (1983) Kinetic of dissimilatory nitrate and nitrite reduction in suspended growth culture. J Water Pollut Control Fed 55:58–64.
- Belser LW, Mays EL (1980) Specific inhibition of nitrite oxidation by chlorate and its use in assessing nitrification in soils and sediments. Appl Environ Microbiol 39:505–510.
- Bock E, Schmidt I, Stüven R, Zart D (1995) Nitrogen loss caused by denitrifying *Nitrosomonas* cells using ammonium or hydrogen as electron donors and nitrite as electron acceptor. Arch Microbiol 163:16–20.
- Boran K, van Niftrik L, Sliekers O, Schmid MC, Schmidt I, van de Pas-Schoonen K, Cirpus I, van der Star W, van Loosdrecht M, Abma W, Kuenen JG, Mulder J-W,

Jetten MSM, den Camp HO, Strous M, van de Vossenberg J (2004) Application, eco-physiology and biodiversity of anaerobic ammonium-oxidizing bacteria. Rev Environ Sci Bio/Technol 3:255–264.

- Brouwer M, van Loosdrecht MCM, Heijnen JJ (1996) One reactor system for ammonium removal via nitrite. STOWA report 96-01. STOWA, Utrecht.
- Bruce ER, Perry LM (2001) Environmental Biotechnology: Principles and Applications. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Burrell PC, Keller J, Blackall LL (1998) Microbiology of a nitrite-oxidizing bioreactor. Appl. Environ. Microbiol 64:1878–1883.
- Camilla G, Guamelius L, Dalhammar G (1998) Comparison of inhibition assays using nitrogen removing bacteria: application to industrial wastewater. Water Res 32(10):2995–3000.
- Castignetti D, Gunner HB (1981) Nitrite and nitrate synthesis from pyruvic oxime by an *Alcaligenes* sp. Curr Microbiol 5:379–384.
- Castignetti D, Hollocher TC (1982) Nitrogen redox metabolism of a heterotrophic nitrifying-denitrifying *Alcaligenes* sp. from soil. Appl Environ Microbiol 44:923–928.
- Cecen F, Orak E, Gokcin P (1995) Nitrification studies on fertilizer wastewaters in activated sludge and biofilm reactors. Water Sci Technol 32(12):141–148.
- Cecen F (1996) Investigation of partial and full nitrification characteristics of fertilizer wastewaters in a submerged biofilm reactor. Water Sci Technol 34(11):77–85.
- Chang JS, Cha GC, Kim DJ (2002) Nitrite accumulation characteristics in the nitrification of high strength ammonia wastewater with biofilm airlift suspension reactor. H K 40:114–120.
- Chen GH, Wong MT, Okabe S, Watanabe Y (2003) Dynamic response of nitrifying activated sludge batch culture to increased chloride concentration. Water Res 37(13):3125–3135.
- Chiou R, Ouyang C (2001) The effect of recycle ratio on nitrification removal in the combined predenitrification/nitrification biofilter system. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 76:559–564.
- Chiu Y-C, Lee L-L, Chang C-N, Chao AC (2007) Control of carbon and ammonium ratio for simultaneous nitrification and denitrification in a sequencing batch bioreactor. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad. 59(1):1–7
- Cirpus IEY, de Been M, Op den Camp JM, Strous M, Le Paslier D, Kuenen GJ, JeHen MSM (2005) A new soluble 10kDa monoheme cytochrome c-552 from the anammox bacterium Candidatus '*Kuenenia stuttgartiensis*'. FEMS Microbiol lett 252:273–278.
- Copp JB, Murphy KL (1995) Estimation of the active nitrifying biomass in activated sludge. Water Res 29 (8):1855–1861.
- Coskuner G, Curtis TP (2002). In situ characterization of nitrifiers in an activated sludge: detection of *Nitrobacter* spp. J Appl Microbiol 93: 431–437.
- Daims H, Nielsen JL, Nielsen PH, Schleifer KH, Wagner M (2001). In situ characterization of *Nitrospira*-like oxidizing bacteria active in wastewater treatment plants. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:5273–5284.
- Dapena-Mora A, Campos JL, Mosquera-Corral A, Jetten MSM, Méndez R (2004) Stability of the ANAMMOX process in a gas-lift reactor and a SBR. J Biotechnol 110:159–170.
- de Beer D, Schramm A, Santegoeds MC, Nielsen KH (1998) Anaerobic processes in activated sludge. Water Sci Technol 37(4–5):605–608.

- Dijkman H, Strous M (1999) Process for ammonia removal from wastewater. Patent 1999; PCT/NL99/00446.
- Dionisi HM, Layton AC, Harms G, Gregory I, Robison K, Sayler G (2002) Quantificaiton of *Nitrosomonas ologitropha*-like ammonia-oxidizing bacteria and *Nitrospira* spp. from full-scale wastewater treatment plant. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:245–253.
- Ehrich S, Behrens E, Lebedeva W, Ludwig W, Bock E (1995) A new obligatately chemolithotrophic, nitrite-oxidizing bacterium, *Nitrospira moscoviensis* sp nov. and its phylogenetic relationship. Arch Microbiol 164: 16–23.
- EPA (1993) Nitrogen control. USEPA, Washington, DC.
- Fdz-Polanco F, Villaverde S, Garcia PA (1994) Temperature effect on nitrifying bacteria activity in biofilters: activation and free ammonia inhibition. Water Sci Technol 30(11):121–130.
- Fdz-Polanco F, Villaverde S, Garcia PA (1996) Nitrite accumulation in submerged biofilters: combined effects. Water Sci Technol 34(3–4):371–378.
- Focht DD, Verstraete W (1977) Biological ecology of nitrification and denitrification. In: Alexander M (ed) Advances in Microbial Ecology. Plenum Press, New York, pp 135–214.
- Fux C, Boehler M, Huber P, Brunner I, Siegrist H (2002) Biological treatment of ammonium-rich wastewater by partial nitrification and subsequent anaerobic ammonium oxidation (Anammox) in a pilot plant. J Biotechnol 99:295–306.
- Fuerhacker M, Bauer H, Ellinger R, Sree U, Schmid H, Zibuschka F, Puxbaum H (2000) Approach for a novel control strategy for simultaneous nitrification and denitrification in activated sludge reactors. Water Res 34(9):2499–2506.
- Gieseke A, Purkhold U, Wagner M, Amann R, Schramm A (2001) Community structure and activity dynamics of nitrifying bacteria in a phosphate-removing biofilm. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:1351–1362.
- Gieseke A, Arns P, Amann R, Schramm A (2002) Simultaneous P and N removal in a sequencing batch biofilm reactor: insights from reactor-and microscale investigations. Water Res 36:501–509.
- Gradly CPL, Lim H (1980) Biological Wastewater Treatment. Dekker, New York.
- Guo HY, Zhou JT, Su J, Zhang ZY (2005) Integration of nitrification and denitrification in airlift bioreactor. Biochem Eng J 23:57–62.
- Gupta AB (1997) *Thiosphaera pantotropha*: a sulphur bacterium capable of simultaneous heterotrophic nitrification and aerobic denitrification. Enzyme Microb Technol 21:589–595.
- Hallin S, Lydmark H, Hermansson SF, Jarvis A, Kindgren P (2005) Community survey of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria in full-scale activated sludge processes with different solids retention time. J Appl Microbiol 99:629–640.
- Han DW, Chang JS, Kim DJ (2003) Nitrifying microbial community analysis of nitrite accumulating biofilm reactor by Fluorescence in situ Hybridization. Water Sci Technol 47(1):97–104.
- Hanaki K, Wantawin C, Ohgaki S (1990) Nitrification at low level of DO with and without organic loading in a suspended growth reactor. Water Res 24: 297–302.
- Hao XD, Heijnena JJ, van Loosdrecht MCM (2002a) Model-based evaluation of temperature and inflow variations on a partial nitrification–ANAMMOX biofilm process. Water Res 36:4839–4849.

- Hao XD, Heijnen JJ, van Loosdrecht MCM (2002b) Sensitivity analysis of a biofilm model describing a one-stage completely autotrophic nitrogen removal (CANON) process. Biotechnol. Bioeng 77:266–277.
- Hellinga C, Schellen AAJC, Mulder JW, van Loosdrecht MCM, Heijnen JJ (1998) The SHARON process: an innovative method for nitrogen removal from ammonium-rich wastewater. Water Sci Technol 37(9):135–142.
- Helmer C, Kunst S (1998) Simultaneous nitrification/denitrification in an aerobic biofilm system. Water Sci Technol 37:183–187.
- Helmer C, Tromm C, Hippen A, Rosenwinkel KH, Seyfied CF, Kunst S (2001) Single stage biological nitrogen removal by nitrification and anaerobic oxidation biofilm systems. Water Sci Technol 43(1):311–320.
- Helmer-Madhok C, Schmid M, Fillpov E, Gaul T, Hippen A, Rosewinkel H-H, Seyfried CF, Wagner M, Kunst S (2002) Deammonification in biofilm systems: population structure and function. Water Sci Technol 46(1–2):223–231.
- Hibiya K, Terada A, Tsuneda S, Hirata A (2003) Simultaneous nitrification and denitrification by controlling vertical and horizontal microenvironment in a membrane-aerated biofilm reactor J Biotechnol 100:23–32.
- Hidaka T, Yamada H, Kawamura M, Tsuno H (2002) Effect of dissolved oxygen conditions on nitrogen removal in continuously fed intermittent-aeration process with two tanks. Water Sci Technol 45:181–188.
- Hippen A, Rosenwinkel KH, Baumgarten G, Seyfried CF (1997) Aerobic deammonification: a new experience in the treatment of wastewaters. Water Sci Technol 35(10):111–120.
- Holman JB, Wareham DG (2005) COD, ammonia and dissolved oxygen time profiles in the simultaneous nitrification/denitrification process. Biochem Eng J 22:125–133.
- Hu L, Wang J, Wen X, Qian Y (2005) Study on performance characteristics of SBR under limited dissolved oxygen. Process Biochem 40:293–296.
- Hu TL, Kung KT (2000) Study of heterotrophic nitrifying bacteria from wastewater treatment systems treating acrylonitrile, butadiene and styrene resin wastewater, Water Sci Technol 42:3–4 315–322.
- Hunik JH (1993) Engineering aspects of nitrification with immobilized cells. PhD thesis, Wageningen Agricultural University, The Netherlands.
- Jetten MSM, Horn SJ, van Loosdrecht MCM (1997) Towards a more sustainable wastewater treatment system. Water Sci Technol 35:171–179.
- Jetten MSM, Strous M, van de Pas-Schoonen KT, Schalk J, Udo van Dongen GJM, van de Graaf AA, Logemann S, Muyzer G, van Loosdrecht MCM, Kuenen JG (1999) The anaerobic oxidation of ammonium. FEMS Microbiol Rev 22:421–437.
- Jetten MSM, Wagner M, Fuerst J, van Loosdrecht MCM, Kuenen G, Strous M (2001) Microbiology and application of the anaerobic ammonium oxidation ('anammox') process. Curr Opin in Biotechnol 12:283–288.
- Jetten MSM, Schmid M, Schmidt I, Wubben M, van Dongen U, Abma W, et al (2002) Improved nitrogen removal by application of new nitrogen cycle bacteria. Rev Environ Sci BioTechnol 1:51–63.
- Juretschko S, Timmermann G, Schmid M, Schleifer K, Roser PA, Koops H, Wagner M (1998) Combined molecular and conventional analyses of nitrifying bacterium diversity in activated sludge: *Nitrososcoccus mobilis* and *Nitrospira*-like bacteria as dominant populations. Appl Environ Microbiol 64(8):3042–3051.

- Keller J, Subramaniam K, Gosswein J, Greenfield PF (1997) Nutrient removal from industrial wastewater using single tank sequencing batch reactors. Water Sci Technol 35:137–144.
- Khin T, Annachhatre AP (2004) Novel microbial nitrogen removal processes. Biotechnol Adv 22:519–532.
- Killham K (1986) Heterotrophic nitrification. In: Prosser JI (ed) Nitrification. IRL Press, Oxford, pp 117–126.
- Kim DJ, Lee D-I, Keller J (2006) Effect of temperature and free ammonia on nitrification and nitrite accumulation in landfill leachate and analysis of its nitrifying bacterial community by FISH. Bioresour Technol 97:459–468.
- Kim JK, Park KJ, Cho KS, Nam S-W, Park T-J, Rakesh B (2005) Aerobic nitrification-denitrification by heterotrophic *Bacillus* strains. Bioresour Technol 96:1897– 1906.
- Kindaichi T, Ito T, Okabe S (2004) Ecophysiological interaction between nitrifying bacteria and heterotrophic bacteira in autotrophic nitrifying biofilms as determined by microautoradiography-fluorescence in situ hybridization. Appl Environ Microbiol 70(3):1641–1650.
- Koch G, Egli K, Van der Meer JR, Siegrist H (2000) Mathematical modeling of autotrophic denitrification in a nitrifying biofilm of a rotating biological contactor. Water Sci Technol 41:191–198.
- Koch G, Kuhni M, Siegrist H (2001) Calibration and validation of an ASM3-based steady-state model for activated sludge systems. Part 1. Prediction of nitrogen removal and sludge production. Water Res 35:2235–2245.
- Kshirsagar M, Gupta AB, Gupta SK (1995) Aerobic denitrification studies on activated sludge mixed with *Thiosphaera pantotropha*. Environ Technol Lett 16:35–43.
- Kuai L, Verstraete W (1998) Ammonium removal by the oxygen-limited autotrophic nitrification-denitrification system. Appl Environ Microbiol 64(11):4500–4506.
- Lee H-J, J Bae JH, Cho KM (2001) Simultaneous nitrification and denitrification in a mixed methanotrophic culture. Biotechnol Lett 23:935–941.
- Li BK, Bishop P (2004) Micro-profiles of activated sludge floc determined using microelectrodes. Water Res 38:1248–1258.
- Li DH, Ganczarczyk JJ (1990) Structure of activated sludge flocs. Biotechnol Bioeng 11:127–138.
- Li DH, Ganczarczyk JJ (1993) Factors affecting dispersion of activated sludge flocs. Water Environ Res 65:258–263.
- Logan BE, Rittmann BE (1998) Finding solutions for tough environmental problems. Environ Sci Technol 11:502–507.
- Manz W, Amman R, Ludwig W, Vancanneyt M, Schleifer KHA (1996) Application of a suite of 16S rRNA-specific oligonucleotide probes designed to investigate bacteria of the phylum *Cytophage-Flavobacter-Bacteroides* in the natural environment. Microbiology 142:1097–1106.
- Morgenroth E, Obermayer A, Arnold E, Bruhl A, Wagner M, Wilderer PA (2000) Effect of long-term idle periods on the performance of sequencing batch reactors. Water Sci Technol 41:105–113.
- Mulder JW, van Loosdrecht MC, Hellinga C, van Kempen R (2001) Full-scale application of the SHARON process for treatment of rejection water of digested sludge dewatering. Water Sic Technol 43(11):127–134.

- Muller EB, Stouthamer AH, van Verseveld HW (1995) Simultaneous NH_3 oxidation and N_2 production at reduced O_2 tensions by sewage sludge subcultured with chemolithotrophic medium. Biodegradation 6:339–349.
- Munch EV, Lant PA, Keiler J (1996) Simultaneous nitrification and denitrification in bench-scale sequencing batch reactors. Water Res 30:277–284.
- Neufeld R, Greenfield J, Rieder B (1986) Temperature, cyanide and phenolic nitrification inhibition. Water Res 20(5):633–642.
- Nielsen M, Bollmann A, Sliekers O, Jetten M, Schmid M, Strous M, Schmidt I, Larsen LH, Nielsen LP, Revsbech NP (2005) Kinetics, diffusional limitation and microscale distribution of chemistry and organisms in a CANON reactor. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 51:247–256.
- Noguera R, Melo L, Purkhold U, Wuertz S, Wagner M (2002) Nitrifying and heterotrophic population dynamics in biofilm reactors: effects of hydraulic retention time and the presence of organic carbon. Water Res 36:469–481.
- Okabe S, Kindaichi T, Ito T, Satoh H (2004) Analysis of size distribution and cell density of ammonia-oxidizing bacterial microcolonies in relation to substrate microprofiles in biofilms. Biotechnol Bioeng 85 (1):86–95.
- Østgaard K, Christensson M, Lie E, Jönsson K, Welander T (1997) Anoxic biological phosphorus removal in a full-scale UCT process. Water Res 31(11):2719–2726.
- Pai TY, Tsai YP, Chou YJ, Chang HY, Leu HG, Ouyang CF (2004) Microbial kinetic analysis of three different types of EBNR process. Chemosphere 55: 109–118.
- Painter HA (1986) Nitrification in the treatment of sewage and wastewater. In: Prosser JI (ed) Nitrification. IRL Press, Aberdeen, pp 185–211.
- Patureau D, Godon JJ, Dabert P, Bouchez T, Bernet N, Delgenes JP, Moletta R (1998) *Microvirgula aerodenitrificans* gen. nov., sp. nov., a new gram-negative bacterium exhibiting co-respiration of oxygen and nitrogen oxides up to oxygen saturated conditions. Int J Syst Bacteriol 48:775–782.
- Peng YZ, Zhu GB (2006) Biological nitrogen removal with nitrification and denitrification via nitrite pathway. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 73(1):15–26.
- Peng DC, Bernet N, Delgenes JP, Moletta R (2001) Simultaneous organic carbon and nitrogen removal in an SBR controlled at low dissolved oxygen concentration. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 76:553–558.
- Peng YZ, Chen T, Tian WJ (2003) Nitrogen removal via nitrite at normal temperature in A/O process. J Environ Sci Health Part A Toxic-Hazard Subst Environ Eng 39(7):1667–1680.
- Peng YZ, Chen Y, Peng CY, Liu M, Wang SY, Song XQ, Cui YW (2004a) Nitrite accumulation by aeration controlled in sequencing batch reactors treating domestic wastewater. Water Sci Technol 50(10):35–43.
- Peng YZ, Li YZ, Peng CY, Wang SY (2004b) Nitrogen removal from pharmaceutical manufacturing wastewater with high concentration of ammonia and free ammonia via partial nitrification and denitrification. Water Sci Technol 50(6): 31–36.
- Peng YZ, Yu DS, Liang DW, Zhu GB (2004c) Nitrogen removal via nitrite from seawater contained sewage. J Environ Sci Health Part A Toxic-Hazard Subst Environ Eng 39(7):1667–1680.
- Peng YZ, Zhu GB, Wang SY, Yu DS, Cui YW, Meng XS (2006) Pilot-scale studies on biological treatment of hypersaline wastewater at low temperature. Water Sci Technol 52:10–11.

- Philips S, Wyffels S, Sprengers R, Verstraete W (2002) Oxygen-limited autotrophic nitrification/denitrification by ammonia oxidisers enables upward motion towards more favorable conditions. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 59:557–566.
- Picioreanu C, van Loosdrecht MCM, Heijnen JJ (1997) Modelling of the effect of oxygen concentration on nitrite accumulation in a biofilm airlift suspension reactor. Water Sci Technol 36:147–156.
- Pochana K, Keller J (1999) Study of factors affecting simultaneous nitrification and denitrification (SND). Water Sci Technol 39(6):61–68.
- Pochana K, Keller J, Paul L (1999) Model development for simultaneous nitrification and denitrification. Water Sci Technol 39(1):235–243.
- Pollice A, Tandoi V, Lestingi C (2002) Influence of aeration and sludge retention time on ammonium oxidation to nitrite and nitrate. Water Res 36(10):2541–2546.
- Poth M (1986) Dinitrogen production from nitrite by a *Nitrosomonas* isolate. Appl Environ Microbiol 51:957–959.
- Poth M, Focht DD (1985) ¹⁵N kinetic analysis of N₂O production by *Nitrosomonas europaea*: an examination of nitrifier denitrification. Appl Environ Microbiol 49:1134–1141.
- Pratt S, Yuan Z, Gapes D, Dorigo M, Zeng RJ, Keller J (2003) Development of a novel titration and off-gas analysis (TOGA) sensor for study of biological processes in wastewater treatment systems. Biotechnol Bioeng 81:482–495.
- Pynaert K, Sprengers R, Laenen J, Verstraete W (2002a) Oxygen-limited nitrification and denitrification in a lab-scale rotating biological contactor. Environ Technol 23(3):353–362.
- Pynaert K, Sprengers R, Boeckx P, van Cleemput O, Verstraete W (2002b) Oxygenlimited nitrogen removal in a lab-scale rotating biological contactor treating an ammonium-rich wastewater. Water Sci Technol 45(10):357–363.
- Pynaert K, Smets BF, Beheydt D, Verstraete W (2004) Startup of autotrophic nitrogen removal reactors via sequential biocatalyst addition. Environ Sci Technol 38:1228–1235.
- Randall CW, Barnard JL, Stensel HD (1992) Design and Retrofit of Wastewater Treatment Plants for Biological Nutrient Removal. Technomic, Lancaster, PA.
- Rick WY, Stuart MT (2001) Microbial nitrogen cycles: physiology, genomics and applications. Curr Opin Microbiol 4:307–312.
- Rittmann BE, Laspidou CS, Flax J, Stahl DA, Urbain V, Harduin H, Waard J, Geurkink B, Henssen MJ, Brouwer H, Klapwijk A, Wetterauw M (1999). Molecular and modeling analyses of the structure and function of nitrifying activated sludge. Water Sci Technol 39 (1):51–59.
- Robertson LA, Kuenen JG (1984) Aerobic denitrification: a controversy revived. Arch Microbiol 139:347–354.
- Robertson LA, van Niel EWJ, Torresmans RAM, Kuenen JG (1988) Simultaneous nitrification and denitrification in aerobic chemostat cultures of *Thiosphaera pantotropha*. Appl Environ Microbiol 54:2812–2818.
- Robertson LA, Dalsgaar T, Revsbech NP, Kuenen JG (1995) Confirmation of "aerobic denitrification" in batch cultures, using gas chromatography and 15N mass spectrometry. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 18:113–120.
- Satoh H, Nakamura Y, Ono H, Okabe S (2003) Effect of oxygen concentration nitrification and denitrification in single activated sludge flocs. Biotechnol Bioeng 83:604–607.

- Schalk J, Hege O, Kuene GJ, Jetten MSM (1998) The anaerobic oxidation of hydrazine: a novel reaction in microbial nitrogen metabolism. FEMS Microbiol Lett 158:61–67.
- Schmid M, Twachtmann U, Klein M, Strous M, Juretschko S, Jetten MSM, Metzger JW, Schleifer KH, Wagner M (2000) Molecular evidence for genus level diversity of bacteria capable of catalyzing anaerobic ammonium oxidation. Syst Appl Microbiol 23:93–106.
- Schmid M, Walsh K, Webb R, Irene W, Rijpstra C, van de Pas-Schoonen K, Verbruggen MJ, Hill T, Moffett B, Fuerst J, Schouten S, Damsté JSS, Harris J, Shaw P, Jetten M, Strous M (2003) *Candidatus "Scalindua brodae*," sp. nov., *Candidatus "Scalindua wagneri*," sp. nov. Two New Species of Anaerobic Ammonium Oxidizing Bacteria. Syst Appl Microbiol 26:529–538.
- Schmidt I, Bock E (1997) Anaerobic ammonia oxidation with nitrogen dioxide by *Nitrosomonas eutropha*. Arch Microbiol 167:106–111.
- Schmidt I, Sliekers O, Schmid M, Cirpus I, Strous M, Bock E, Kuenen JG, Jetten MSM (2002a) Aerobic and anaerobic ammonia oxidizing bacteria: competitors or natural partners. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 39:175–181.
- Schmidt I, Hermelink C, van de Pas-Schoonen K, Strous M, Op de Camp HJ, Kuenen JG, Jetten MSM (2002b) Anaerobic ammonia oxidation in the presence of nitrogen oxides (NO_x) by two different lithotrophs. Appl Environ Microbiol 68(11):5351–5357.
- Schmidt I, Sliekers O, Schmid M, Bock E, Fuerst J, Kuenen JG, Jetten MSM, Strous M (2003) New concepts of microbial treatment processes for the nitrogen removal in wastewater. FEMS Microbiol Rev 27:481–492.
- Scholten E, Lukow T, Auling G, Kroppenstedt RM, Rainey FA, Dielmann H (1999) *Thaurea mecharnichensis* sp. nov., an aerobic denitrifier from a leachate treatment plant. Int J Syst Bacteriol 49:1045–1051.
- Schramm A, Larsen LH, Revsbech PN, Ramsing BN, Amann R, Schleifer HK (1996) Structure and function of a nitrifying biofilm as determined by in situ hybridization and the use of microelectrodes. Appl Environ Microbiol 62:4641–4647.
- Schramm A, de Beer D, Wagner M, Amann R (1998) Identification and activity in situ of *Nitrosospira* and *Nitrospira* spp. as dominant Populations in a nitrifying fluidized bed reactor. Appl Environ Microbiol 64:3480–3485.
- Schramm A, de Beer D, Heuvel JC, Ottengraf S, Amann R (1999) Microscale distribution of populations and activities of *Nitrosospira* and *Nitrospira* spp. along a macroscale gradient in a nitrifying bioreactor: quantification by in situ hybridization and the use of microsensors. Appl Environ Microbiol 65(8):3690–3696.
- Schramm A, de Beer D, Gieseke A, Amann R (2000) Microenvironments and distribution of nitrifying bacteria in a membrane-bound biofilm. Environ Microbiol 2:680–686.
- Siegrist H, Reithaar S, Koch G, Lais P (1998a) Nitrogen loss in a nitrifying rotating contactor treating ammonium-rich wastewater without organic carbon. Water Sci Technol 38(8–9):241–248.
- Siegrist H, Reithaar S, Lais P (1998b) Nitrogen loss in a nitrifying rotating contactor treating ammonium-rich leachate without organic carbon. Water Sci Technol 37(4–5):191–198.
- Sliekers AO, Derwort N, Campos Gomez JL, Strous M, Kuenen JG, Jetten MSM (2002) Completely autotrophic ammonia removal over nitrite in one reactor. Water Res 36:2475–2482.

- Sliekers AO, Third KA, Abma W, Kuenen JG, Jetten MSM (2003) CANON and Anammox in a gas-lift reactor. FEMS Microbiol Lett 218:339–344.
- Snidaro D, Zartarian F, Jorand F, Bottero JY, Block JC, Manem J (1997) Characterization of activated sludge flocs structure. Water Sci Technol 36(4):313–320.
- STOWA (1995) Treatment of nitrogen rich return flows of sewage treatment plants. Evaluation of Dutch pilot plant research projects (in Dutch). STOWA report, pp 95–08.
- Strous M, van Gerven E, Kuenen JG, Jetten MSM (1997a) Effects of aerobic and microaerobic conditions on anaerobic ammonium-oxidating (Anammox) sludge. Appl Environ Microbiol 63(6):2446–2448.
- Strous M, van Gerven E, Kuenen JG, Jetten M (1997b) Ammonium removal from concentrated waste streams with the Anaerobic Ammonium Oxidation (Anammox) process in different reactor configurations. Water Res 31:1955–1962.
- Strous M, Van Gerven, Ping ZE, Kuenen JG, Jetten MSM (1997c) Ammonium removal from concentrated waste streams with the Anaerobic Ammonium Oxidation (Anammox) process in different reactor configurations. Water Res 31:1955–1962.
- Strous M, Heijnen JJ, Kuenen JG, Jetten MSM (1998) The sequencing batch reactor as a powerful tool for the study of slowly growing anaerobic ammoniumoxidizing microorganisms. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 50:589–596.
- Strous M, Kuenen JG, Jetten MSM (1999) Key physiology of anaerobic ammonium oxidation. Appl Environ Microbiol 65:3248–3250.
- Strous M (2000) Microbiology of anaerobic ammonium oxidation. PhD thesis, Kluyver Laboratory, TU Delft University, Delft, The Netherlands.
- Stuven R, Bock E (2001) Nitrification and denitrification as a source for NO and NO₂ production in high-strength wastewater. Water Res 35(8):1905–1914.
- Surmacz-Gorska J, Cichon A, Miksch K (1997) Nitrogen removal from wastewater with high ammonia nitrogen concentration via shorter nitrification and denitrification. Water Sci Technol 36(10):73–78.
- Tam NFY, Wong YS, Leung G (1992) Effect of exogenous carbon sources on removal of inorganic nutrients by the nitrification denitrification process. Water Res 26:1229.
- Tchobanoglous G, Burton FL, Stensel DH (2003) Wastewater Engineering: Treatment Disposal and Reuse, 4th Ed. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Thamdrup B, Dalsgaard T (2002) Production of N₂ through anaerobic ammonia oxidation coupled to nitrate reduction in marine sediments. Appl and Environ Microbiol 68(3):1312–1318.
- Third KA, Sliekers AO, Kuenen JG, Jetten MM (2001) The CANON system (Completely Autotrophic Nitrogen-removal Over Nitrite) under ammonium limitation: interaction and competition between three groups of bacteria. Syst Appl Microbiol 24:588–596.
- Third KA, Paxman J, Schmid M, Strous M, Jetten MS, Cord-Ruwisch R (2005) Enrichment of anammox from activated sludge and its application in the CANON process. Microb Ecol 49(2):236–244.
- Tsuneda S, Nagano T, Hoshino T, Ejiri Y, Noda N, Hirata A (2003) Characterization of nitrifying granules produced in an aerobic upflow fluidized bed reactor. Water Res 37:4965–4973.
- Turk O, Mavinic DS (1987) Benefits of using selective inhibition to remove nitrogen from highly nitrogenous wastes. Environ Technol Lett 8:419–426.

- Turk O, Mavinic DS (1989) Maintaining nitrite build-up in a system acclimated to free ammonia. Water Res 23(11):1383–1388.
- Vadivelu VM, Yuan Z, Fux C, Keller J (2006) The inhibitory effects of free nitrous acid on the energy generation and growth processes of an enriched *Nitrobacter* culture. Environ Sci Technol 40(14):4442–4448.
- van Dongen U, Jetten MSM, van Loosdrecht MCM (2001) The SHARON-ANAMMOX process for treatment of ammonium rich wastewater. Water Sci Technol 44:53–60.
- van Graaf AA, Mulder A, Bruijn P, Jetten MSM, Robertson LA, Kuenen JG (1995) Anaerobic ammonium oxidation is a biologically mediated process. Appl Environ Microbiol 61:246–1250.
- van Graaf AA, Bruijn P, Robertson LA, Jetten MSM, Kuenen JG (1996) Autotrophic growth of anaerobic, ammonium-oxidising micro-organisms in a fluidized bed reactor. Microbiology (UK) 142:2187–2196.
- van Niel EWJ (1991) Nitrification by heterotrophic denitrifiers and its relationship to autotrophic nitrification. PhD thesis, Delft University of Technology, Delft.
- Verstraete W, Philips S (1998) Nitrification-denitrification processes and technologies in new contexts. Environ Pollut 102(S1):717–726.
- Villaverde S, Garcia-Encina PA, Fdz-Polanco F (1997) Influence of pH over nitrifying biofilm activity in submerged biofilm. Water Res 31(5):1180–1186.
- Villaverde S, Fdz-Polanco F, Garcia PA (2000) Nitrifying biofilm acclimation to free ammonia in the submerged biofilters. Start-up influence. Water Res 34:602–610.
- Wagner M, Rath G, Amann R, Koops HP, Schleifer HK (1995) *In situ* identification of nitrifying ammonia-oxidizing bacteria. Syst Appl Microbiol 18:251–264.
- Wagner MR, Koops G, Flood PH, Amann R (1996) In situ analysis of nitrifying bacteria in sewage treatment plants. Water Sci Technol 34 (1-2):237–244.
- Wentzel MC, Ekama GA, Marais GVR (1992) Process and modelling of nitrification denitrification biological excess phosphorus removal systems: a review. Water Sci Technol 25(6):59–82.
- Wilen BM, Balmer P (1999) The effect of dissolved oxygen concentration on the structure, size and size distribution of activated sludge flocs. Water Res 33(2): 391–400.
- Williams SC, Beresford J (1998) The effect of anaerobic zone mixing on the performance of a three-stage Bardenpho plant. Water Sci Technol 38(1):55–62.
- Windey K, De Bo I, Verstraete W (2005) Oxygen-limited autotrophic nitrification denitrification (OLAND) in a rotating biological contactor treating high-salinity wastewater. Water Res 39(18):4512–4520.
- Wouter G, Vandaele S, Verstraete W (1999) Nitrogen removal from sludge reject water with a membrane-assisted bioreactor. Water Res 33(1):23–32.
- Wyffels S, Pynaert K, Boeckx P, Verstraete W, Van Cleemput O (2003) Identification and quantification of nitrogen removal in a rotating biological contactor by ¹⁵N tracer techniques. Water Res 37:1252–1259.
- Wyffels S, Boeckx P, Pynaert K, Zhang D, Van Cleemput O, Chen G, Verstraete W (2004a) Nitrogen removal from sludge reject water by a two-stage oxygen-limited autotrophic nitrification denitrification process. Water Sci Technol 49(5-6):57–64.
- Wyffels S, van Hulle SWH, Boeckx P, Volcke EIP, van Cleemput O, van Rolleghem PA, Verstraete W (2004b) Modelling and simulation of oxygen-limited partial nitritafition in a membrane-assisted bioreactor (MBR). Biotechnol Bioeng 86:531–542.

- Yoo H, Ann K-H, Lee H-J, Lee K-H, Kwak Y-J, Song K-G (1999) Nitrogen removal from synthetic wastewater by simultaneous nitrification and denitrification (SND) via nitrite in an intermittently-aerated reactor. Water Res 33(1):145–154.
- You SJ, Hsu CL, Chuang SH, Ouyang CF (2003) Nitrification efficiency and nitrifying bacteria abundance in combined AS-RBC and A²O systems. Water Res 37: 2281–2290.
- Zhang D, Zhang DM, Liu YP, Cao WW, Chen GX (2004) Community analysis of ammonia oxidizer in the oxygen-limited nitritation stage of OLAND system by DGGE of PCR amplified 16S rDNA fragments and FISH. J Environ Sci China 16(5):838–842.
- Zhang DJ, Lu PL, Long TR, Verstraete Willy (2005) The integration of methanogensis with simultaneous nitrification and denitrification in a membrane bioreactor. Process Biochem 40:541–547.
- Zhao HW, Mavinic DS, Oldham WO, Koch FA (1999) Controlling factors for simultaneous nitrification and denitrification in a two-stage intermittent aeration process treating domestic sewage. Water Res 33:961–970.
- Zheng P, Xu XL, Hu BL (2004) Novel Theories and Technologies of Biological Nitrogen Removal. Science Press, Beijing.
- Zhu GB (2006) Performance and optimization of anoxic/oxic step feeding enhanced biological nitrogen removal process. PhD thesis, Harbin Institute of Technology, Harbin China.
- Zhu GB, Peng YZ, Wu SY, Wang SY (2005) Automatic control strategy for step feed biological nitrogen removal process. J Environ Sci China 17(3):455–457.
- Zhu GB, Peng YZ, Wu SY, Wang SY (2007a) Effect of influent flow rate distribution on the performance of step-feed biological nitrogen removal process. Chem Eng J 131:319–328.
- Zhu GB, Peng YZ, Wang SY, Zuo JL, Wang YY, Guo JH (2007b) Development and experimental evaluation of a steady-state model for the step-feed biological nitrogen removal process. Chinese Journal of Chemical Engineering 15(3):411–417.

Manuscript received November 25, 2006; accepted February 1, 2007.